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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS  

 
DAWN NOWLIN, in her individual    )   
Capacity; and as Owner of HOUDINIS   ) 
SPIRITS;      ) 

 ) 
KARLA BOLDT, in her individual    ) 
Capacity;      ) 
       ) 
RACHEL M. OLIVARES, in her individual   ) 
Capacity;      ) 
       ) 

APRIL SCHWEITZER, in her individual Capacity; ) Case No: 1:20-cv-1229  

       ) 
MELISSA L. SHARMA, in her individual   ) 
Capacity;      ) 
       ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
JESSE KADERA, in his Individual Capacity; ) 
       ) 
PETER PTAK, in his Individual Capacity;  ) 
       ) 
JAMES SHIPLEY, in his Individual Capacity; ) 
       ) 
ELAINE CONFORTI, in her individual   ) 
Capacity, and as Owner of IN STYLE HAIR  ) 
STUDIO      ) 
       ) 
CHERYL A. THOMPSON, in her individual ) 
Capacity, and as Owner of BONOFIDE   ) 
CLEANING, L.L.C.                                                 ) 
                                                                                    ) 
CAROLINE SZWAJLIK, in her individual               ) 
Capacity, and as Owner of KAREN'S  ) 
EMERGENCY SERVICES    ) 
       ) 
QUINTON S. MISTER, in his individual  ) 
Capacity      )  
       ) 
All Those Similarly Situated Businesses and  ) 
Illinois Citizens     ) 
       ) 
Plaintiffs,      )          
       )       

E-FILED
 Monday, 15 June, 2020  02:52:47 PM 

 Clerk, U.S. District Court, ILCD
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v.       )       
       ) 
JAY ROBERT PRITZKER,    )    
Governor of Illinois, In his Official   )   
Capacity,      )      
       )       
Defendant.      ) 
 
       
 

COMPLAINT AT LAW 
 

 PLAINTIFFS, DAWN NOWLIN, in her individual capacity; and as the owner of 

HOUDINIS SPIRITS; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER,  

MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE 

CONFORTI, in her individual capacity, and as the owner of IN STYLE HAIR STUDIO, 

CHERYL A. THOMPSON, in her individual capacity, and as the owner of BONOFIDE 

CLEANING, LLC., CAROLINE SZWAJLIK, in her individual capacity, and as the owner of 

KAREN'S EMERGENCY  SERVICES, and QUINTON S. MISTER, in his individual capacity 

and all those similarly situated Illinois Citizens and Businesses (hereinafter "Plaintiffs" "Plaintiff 

Individuals" or "Plaintiff Businesses") by and through their counsel, John C. Kreamer and Joseph 

E. Urani of The Kreamer Law Group, L.L.C., complain of Defendant JAY ROBERT 

PRITZKER, Governor of Illinois, in his Official Capacity, as follows: 

Introduction 

 1.  The coronavirus pandemic has gripped the United States of America and the State of 

Illinois. In response to the initial surge in coronavirus cases, numerous states, including Illinois, 

imposed "stay-at-home" orders, to "flatten the curve" of the spread of the virus, and to avoid an 

overrun of our healthcare system. Due to the unified efforts of the American people, the curve 
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has flattened nationally, and in Illinois, and our healthcare systems in the United States and 

Illinois, have not been overrun; thus, the goals of these unprecedented orders have been met.   

 
 
 2.  As time progressed, it has become evident that the coronavirus turned out to be a 

dangerous disease, but a manageable one.  Despite the evidence that the ongoing lockdowns are 

far more dangerous to the people of Illinois, Defendant's restrictions remain in effect with no 

foreseeable end date in site all in the severe violation of the rights of the citizens of Illinois under 

the U.S. Constitution and the Illinois Constitution and Illinois Statutes.    

 3. Defendant's restrictions remain in effect, with no foreseeable end date in sight, in spite  

of the fact that the evidence before Defendant as of June 12, 2020, as compiled by the Illinois 

Department of Public Health and 95 days after the orders began, shows that 6,260 deaths due to 

the coronavirus were recorded in Illinois.  Of those numbers, nearly 87% of them were of 

individuals over the age of 60. (1,088 were of individuals between the ages of 60-69; 1,499 were 

of individuals between the ages of 70-79; 2,767 were of individuals between the ages of 80 and 

over.) Over 50% of the total deaths in Illinois as of June 12, 2020, were of individuals living in 

long term health facilities, with nearly 54% of those being in Cook County alone. See Exhibit A  

IDPH statistics   

 4. Defendant's restrictions remain in effect, with no foreseeable end date in sight, even 

though the evidence before Defendant as of June 12, 2020, as compiled by the Illinois 

Department of Public Health and 95 days after the orders began, shows that 45 of Illinois' 102 

counties reported no deaths due to coronavirus; 76 of the 102 counties reported 10 or fewer 

deaths; 90 of the 102 counties have reported 20 or fewer deaths; and of the total 6,260 total 

recorded coronavirus deaths as of June 12, 2020, 4,162 occurred in Chicago and Cook County 
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accounting for over 66% of the reported deaths.   See Exhibit A.   Looking at the State's Medical 

data as it applies to the Big 5 counties (Cook, DuPage, Lake, Will, and Kane) plus Chicago 

(listed separately from Cook County by the Illinois Department of Health) 5,488 deaths have 

occurred in these areas or nearly 88% of the total death toll.  In comparison, according to the 

Illinois Department of Health, 23,500 Illinoisans died between 1918-1919 due to the Spanish flu 

pandemic – the population of Illinois in 1920 was 6,485,280 people, according to the U.S. 

Census Bureau.   

 5.  Despite the originally stated goals having been met, Defendant Pritzker has changed 

the stated goals for the Executive Orders and has violated the rights of the citizens of Illinois 

under the U.S. Constitution and the Illinois Constitution and Illinois Statutes.      

 6.  The Constitutional Rights of the citizens of the United States and the State of Illinois 

can never be extinguished, especially in times of crisis, disaster, and pandemic.  As such, for the 

reasons stated at length below, the Plaintiffs additionally seek permanent injunctive relief against 

Pritzker's unlawful orders. 

 7.  By his actions and unlawful orders and plans in the wake of the coronavirus epidemic, 

Defendant Pritzker's has violated and continues to violate the rights of Plaintiffs and all citizens 

and businesses of the State of Illinois, similarly situated in that they: 

 (i) Violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and the      

 Illinois Constitution under the Free Exercise of Religion Clause (42. U.S.C. §1983); 

 (ii) Violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and the 

 Illinois Constitution under the Free Speech Clause. (42. U.S.C. §1983); 

  (iii) Violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and the 

 Illinois Constitution under the Freedom to Assemble Clause. (42. U.S.C. §1983); and;
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 (iv) Violate the Due Process Clause and Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

 Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. (42. U.S.C. §1983); and;   

 (v)   Violate the Illinois Religious Freedom Restoration Act. (775 ILCS 35); and; 

 (vi) Create an illegal and unjust taking of private property under the Fifth Amendment of 

 the U.S. Constitution and Article 15, Section 1 of the Illinois Constitution. 

 8.  By his most recent actions and decrees, Defendant Pritzker would have this State, and 

Honorable Court believe that corona virus attacks and infects only certain businesses and 

individuals attempting to practice and defend their Constitutional protections while others that 

Defendant Pritzker aligns himself with politically and whom he protests and marches with, are 

immune from the virus.   

 9.  Defendant Pritzker's acts of selective extra-Constitutional decrees and view-point 

Constitutional discrimination cannot be allowed to stand where he picks Constitutional winners 

like marijuana dispensaries legally conducting business in Illinois for less than six months and 

Antifa protestors while he throws to the curb churches, places of worship, people of faith, and 

honest, hard-working small business owners – the Governor's Constitutional losers.  Meanwhile, 

the number of working honest, hard-working business owners plummeted from 15 million in 

February 2020 to 11.7 million in April 2020.   441,000 (41%) of black business owners, 658,000 

(32%) or Latino businesses, 1.1 million (36%) immigrants, and 1.3 million (25%) of women-

owned businesses have all been lost.  National Bureau of Economic Research.   At the same 

time, State and Federal Government officials, including the Governor, Judges, and Legislators 

continue to collect paychecks, health insurance, and retirement benefits, all paid for by the tax-

payers whose rights have been trampled and are prohibited from providing for their families.   
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 10. "Facts are stubborn things and whatever our wishes, our inclinations, or the dictates 

of our passion, they cannot alter the state of facts and evidence." John Adams.  The facts and 

evidence, in this case, show that Governor Pritzker's actions have gone too far and stand in direct 

conflict with the Plaintiffs' Bill of Rights and their fundamental God bestowed right to work and 

provide for the families. The Governor's view-point discrimination must be declared 

unconstitutional. 

Parties   

 11. Plaintiff, Dawn Nowlin, is a resident of Heyworth, Mclean County, Illinois.  She is  

the owner of Houdinis Spirits, which is a business operating in LeRoy, Mclean County, IL.    

 12.  Plaintiff, Karla Boldt, is a resident of Waterman, DeKalb County, Illinois.   

 13.  Plaintiff Rachel M. Olivares is a resident of Naperville, DuPage County, Illinois. 
 
 14.  Plaintiff April Schweitzer is a resident of Champaign, Champaign County, Illinois. 
 
 15. Plaintiff Melissa L. Sharma is a resident of Peoria Heights, Peoria County, Illinois 
 
 16.  Plaintiff Jesse Kadera is a resident of Antioch, Lake County, Illinois. 
 
 17.  Plaintiff Peter Ptak is a resident of Lisle, DuPage County, Illinois. 
 
 18.  Plaintiff James Shipley is a resident of Tolomo, Champaign County, Illinois. 
 
 19.  Plaintiff Elaine Conforti is a resident of Palatine, Cook County, Illinois.  She is the 

owner of In Style Hair Studio, which is a business operating in Palatine, Cook County, Illinois. 

 20.  Plaintiff Cheryl A. Thompson is a resident of Cobden, Union County, Illinois.  She is 

the owner of Bonofide Cleaning, L.L.C., which is a business operating in Cobden, Union 

County, Illinois. 
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 21.  Plaintiff Caroline Szwajlik is a resident of Burr Ridge, DuPage County, Illinois.  She 

is the owner of Karen's Emergency Services, which is operating in Burr Ridge, DuPage County, 

Illinois. 

 22. Plaintiff Quinton S. Mister is a resident of Naperville, DuPage County, Illinois. 

 23.  Defendant Jay Robert Pritzker is the Governor of the State of Illinois.   

Venue 
 

 24. Plaintiffs are residents of the State of Illinois. The acts and omissions, and the effects 

of the actions and omissions, giving rise to this case occurred throughout the State of Illinois, and 

also happening in the Central District of Illinois. The venue is thus proper in this District under 

28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

Jurisdiction 
 

 25.  This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims asserted here under the federal 

question provision of the Judicial Code, 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  

 26.  This Court has jurisdiction over the claims asserting violations of the Illinois 

Constitution under the supplemental jurisdiction provision of the Judicial Code, 28 U.S.C. § 

1367(a).  

 27.  As alleged more fully below, all of the Defendant's actions that have deprived 

Plaintiffs of rights under the U.S. Constitution have been taken under the color of law.  

 28.  This Court has the authority to grant the requested injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C. § 

1343(3), declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, the claim for damages under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, and to grant costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1920. 

Facts 
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Defendant Pritzker's Illegal Acts and Executive Orders 

29.  On March 9, 2020, Defendant issued a proclamation declaring, as of that date, a  

disaster existed within Illinois.  See Exhibit B proclamation of March 9, 2020 
 

30.  Defendant proclaimed the authority granted to him under the Illinois Emergency 

Management Agency Act. See 20 ILCS 2205 (hereinafter "the Act") 
 
 31.  Defendant determined the coronavirus pandemic to be a "public health emergency."  
 
See Exhibit B.   
 
 32.  As a result of the pandemic, Defendant declared all 102 counties within Illinois a 

disaster area. See Exhibit B. 

 33.  After a disaster proclamation, the Act confers specific enumerated powers upon the 

Governor of the State of Illinois, amongst those, are 13 emergency powers as provided in section 

7 of the Act.  See 20 ILCS 3305/7.   

 34.  Section 7 of the Act expressly states: "Upon such proclamation, the Governor shall 

have and may exercise for a period not to exceed 30 days the following emergency powers… 

  (6)   To recommend the evacuation of all or part of the population from any  

  stricken or threatened area within the State when the Governor deems this   

  necessary.   

 (7)    To prescribe routes, modes of transportation, and destinations in connection  

  with evacuation.         

  (8)    To control ingress and egress to and from a disaster area, the movement of  

  persons within the area, and the occupancy of premises therein.    
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  (12)  To control, restrict, and regulate by rationing… and perform and exercise  

  any other functions, powers, and duties as may be necessary to promote and  

  secure the safety and protection of the civilian population.  See 20 ILCS 3305/7 

 35.  On March 20, 2020, Defendant Pritzker issued Executive Order 2020-10, limiting 

Plaintiffs and all similarly situated individuals' in Illinois constitutionally protected freedoms in 

that it ordered them to stay at home, or their place of residence, limited their ability to exercise 

their religion freely and limited their ability to travel within the State with an effective date of 

March 21, 2020, through April 7, 2020.  See Exhibit C, March 20, Executive Order.   

 36.  The stated reason Pritzker gave for the order was to flatten the curve of those 

catching the virus and to avoid an overrun of Illinois' healthcare system.   

 37.  On March 20, 2020, Defendant Pritzker issued Executive Order 2020-10, limiting 

Plaintiff Businesses, and all similarly situated "non-essential" businesses, as defined by the 

order, in that it ordered them to cease all activities within the State with an effective date of 

March 21, 2020, through April 7, 2020. See Exhibit C. 

 38.  On April 1, 2020, Defendant Pritzker issued a second proclamation declaring the 

coronavirus pandemic to be a "continuing public health emergency."   

 39.  On April 1, 2020, Defendant Pritzker issued a second Executive Order 2020-18 

within which he acknowledges the March 9th Proclamation and by which extended the duration 

of the previous March 20 Executive Order until April 30, 2020.  See Exhibit D April 1st 

Executive Order.   

 40.  As a direct result of the April 1, 2020, Executive Order, Defendant Pritzker further 

limited Plaintiffs' and all similarly situated individuals' constitutionally protected freedoms in 

that it ordered them to stay at home, or their place of residence, limited their ability to exercise 
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their religion freely and limited their ability to travel within the State thereby extending the 

duration of the previous March 20 Executive Order until April 30, 2020.   

 41.  As a direct result of the April 1, 2020, Executive Order, Defendant Pritzker further 

limited Plaintiff Businesses, and all similarly situated "non-essential" businesses, as defined by 

the order, in that it ordered them to cease all activities within the State thereby extending the 

duration of the previous March 21 Executive Order until April 30, 2020. 

 42.  On April 30, 2020, Defendant Pritzker issued a third Executive order, thereby 

extending the duration of the previous April 1st Executive Order until May 30, 2020.  See Exhibit 

E, April 30, Executive Order.  

 43.  By these continued orders, Defendant Pritzker was in direct violation of 20 ILCS 

3305/7 in that his emergency powers greatly exceeded 30 days.  

 44.  On or about May 5, 2020, Defendant Pritzker issued a five-phase-plan regarding the 

steps toward reopening the State of Illinois.  See Exhibit F Five-Phase-Plan.  

 45.  The five-phase-plan continued the closures and prohibitions for an unspecified length 

of time and indicated that the final phase, phase 5, would seemingly be a return to normal.  See 

Exhibit F. 

 46.  The language Defendant uses to arrive at Phase 5 is vague and has no foreseeable 

future end date as it states, "To move to the next phase [5]: A vaccine or effective treatment must 

be widely available. Alternatively, a region has reached herd immunity, and there are no new 

cases over a sustained period of time." This language indicates that Phase 5 would not occur until 

a vaccine for the coronavirus was obtained and readily available, which in reality may never 

happen.  It alternatively states Phase 5 could occur when "a region" reached herd immunity, and 

there are no new cases "over a sustained period of time." Defendant makes no indication as to the 
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extent of the sustained period, and that period could be indefinite by Defendant's language.  See 

Exhibit F   

 47.  Such a vaccine is being worked on. Still, there is no guarantee as to when the same 

would be completed and available, and there is no guarantee that any such vaccine will ever be 

obtained or available.  See Exhibit F 

 48.  Defendant Pritzker's five-phase-plan made no mention about re-opening churches 

and places of worship.  On May 28, 2020, the Illinois Department of Health issued a set of 

guidelines for churches in response to an order from U.S. Supreme Court Justice Brett 

Kavanaugh, which were now described as not being "mandatory." The "guidelines" being 

proffered by the Defendant under his state authority still strongly recommend and suggest limits 

to freedom to worship in 1) avoiding in-person activity, 2) continuing remote services, 3) or 

conducting drive-in services.  Despite these "guidelines" no longer being mandatory, they were 

"the law" and punishable under the law up and through May 28, 2020.  These "guidelines" still 

impose the threat of state imposition and intimidation on the free form and practice of religion 

and thus are still a continuing violation of the U.S. and Illinois Constitutions.    

 49.  Defendant Pritzker's May 28, 2020 guidelines directed toward churches and places of 

Worship, consists of 9 pages of extensive strong suggestions and recommendations regarding the 

practice of religion under the color of state law.  See Exhibit G, 5-28-20 guidelines.      

 50.  Defendant Pritzker's five-phase-plan is vague and ambiguous as to any length of time 

and on its face extends the restrictions on Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens and 

businesses' constitutional rights indefinitely. 
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 51. Defendant's Pritzker's orders and five-phase-plan do not attempt to competently 

establish a legitimate state interest and further make no attempt to tailor the restrictions to any 

reasonable degree whatsoever narrowly.   

Defendant Pritzker's Violation of the U.S. Constitution and Illinois Constitution 
Concerning the Free Exercise of Religion, Freedom of Speech and Freedom to Assemble 

 
 52.  Defendant Pritzker, in light of the coronavirus epidemic, has issued three Executive 

orders continuing the "stay-at-home" mandates and a five-phase-plan which included the closure 

of churches and church ministries throughout the State of Illinois. 

 53.  These orders restricted and continue to restrict Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated 

citizens of Illinois from their constitutional right to freely exercise their religion and to freely 

assemble in their places of worship and freely speak and attest to their faith within those places 

of worship which is a mandated part of their faith and which cannot be performed remotely or at 

home or via electronic means, and cannot be limited in size and scope in terms of congregation, 

including but not limited to the following ways:    

  a) Gather without limitation in places of worship to celebrate mass,  

  b) Gather without limitation in places of worship to sing,   

  c) Gather without limitation in places of worship to give testimony,  

  d) Gather without limitation in places of worship to give confession,  

  e) Gather without limitation in to receive Holy Communion,      

  f) Gather without limitation in places of worship to console the   

   bereaved and mourn at funerals,      

  g) Gather without limitation at places of worship to celebrate weddings. 

 54. Defendant Pritzker, in his orders, declared churches and church ministries "non- 

essential" and commanded them to shut down.  Pritzker has forbidden congregants from leaving 
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their homes to attend church or church ministries. See Exhibit A proclamation of March 9, 2020.   

Pritzker also expressly prohibited even no-contact, drive-in services in Illinois church parking 

lots.  Pritzker subsequently did allow for the opening of church services, limiting the number of 

total people at such services to 10, which is impractical for most religious services to the extent 

that this order made no meaningful change.  On May 28, 2020, the "guidelines" issued toward 

churches were deemed no longer mandatory; however, they still impose the threat of state 

imposition and intimidation on the free form and practice of religion and are still a violation of 

the U.S. and Illinois Constitutions.     

 55.  Defendant Pritzker's statements and actions during the coronavirus epidemic 

demonstrate an illegal and discriminatory hostility to religious practice, churches, and people of 

faith. He has flagrantly violated the fundamental religious liberties of Illinoisans, in violation of 

the First Amendment's Free Exercise clause and parallel provisions of the Illinois Constitution 

and statute. 

 56.  Defendant Pritzker's executive orders are facially unconstitutional because they 

discriminate against the religious practice, speech, and assembly. At the same time, Defendant 

Pritzker does not enforce the same executive orders and provides favored status to other political, 

atheist, agnostic, socialist and communist protesters including but not limited to Antifa, with 

differing view-points on religion and political matters, and numerous private businesses, 

including liquor stores, abortion clinics, grocery stores, Home Depot and Walmart by 

designating them "Essential Businesses and Operations," even though those favored businesses 

are certainly no more "essential" as evidenced by the protections afforded religious practice, 

speech and assembly by the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and sections 3, 4, and 5 of 
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Article 1 of the Illinois Constitution. They pose an equivalent or even greater threat of the spread 

of the coronavirus.  

 57.  Defendant Pritzker's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and his ongoing assertion 

that his purpose is to save as many lives as possible are unconstitutional because he fails to 

establish any compelling or legitimate state interest giving justification for his actions, and 

especially the ongoing nature of his actions in perpetuity with no foreseeable end date, including 

but not limited to the following:        

  a) He fails to base his actions on a legitimate, clear scientific and medical threat  

  because there is no evidence or consensus in the medical community as to the  

  ongoing threat of the coronavirus to justify an indefinite legitimate state interest.  

  This is evidenced including but not limited to the following persisting questions to 

  which there has never been consensus to justify the severe actions taken:  

    i)  Is Covid-19 not as lethal as originally believed?   

    ii) Are Covid-19 deaths accurately coded?    

    iii) Why were models leading to lockdowns proven inaccurate? 

    iv) Did lockdowns actually slow the spread of the virus?  

    v) Do lockdowns have significant mental health risks?  

    vi) Do facemasks have any effect on the spread?    

  b)  He fails to base his actions or explain the scientific basis as to how the   

  coronavirus should be treated as the same type of threat in different counties  

  consisting of different geographical locations and populations throughout the  

  State of Illinois, thus mandating the same blanket restrictions throughout the  

  entire State.       
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  c)  He fails to base his actions on a true mortality rate to determine the level of  

  threat of the coronavirus, or to acknowledge the strong evidence indicating the  

  mortality rate was never much higher than that of the seasonal flu. (Dr. Fauci,  

  Director of NIAID indicated in March that the mortality rate would be 10x that of  

  the seasonal flu, early reports from China held the mortality rate as high as 3.4%,  

  indications since show an actual mortality rate of under 1% - Ducharme and  

  Wolfson, Time Magazine 3/9/20; Jon Hamilton, NPR 5/28/20)   

  d)  He fails to explain why his chief medical advisor, Dr. Ngozi Ezike has   

  publicly admitted that the State of Illinois counts among the Covid-19 deaths  

  anyone who tested positive for the virus which was already on hospice and  

  determined close to death by physicians for other reasons, thus conflating the  

  actual death numbers to present a false compelling state interest.    

  e)  He fails to establish how the threat and death caused by the coronavirus is an  

  ongoing legitimate state interest and concern allowing for the continued   

  infringement of Constitutional rights in perpetuity when the numbers are   

  declining in Illinois; the mortality rate is under 1%, and the survival rate for all  

  those who contract the virus is over 99%.  (Weekly Covid-19 deaths decline for  

  the first time during a pandemic- Ben Orner State Journal-Register, 5/26/20)   

  f)  He fails to establish how the threat and death caused by the coronavirus is an  

  ongoing legitimate state interest and concern when the deaths in Illinois due to  

  other causes do not result in the unchecked restriction of constitutional rights for  

  the stated purpose of trying to save as many lives as possible.  (The C.D.C.  

  recorded in 2017 25,394 deaths in Illinois due to heart disease, 24,150 due to  
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  cancer and 6,019 due to accidents, yet Defendant does not invoke executive  

  orders to save as many lives as possible in these categories.)      

  g)  He fails to establish or explain how his stated goal in continuing these   

  restrictions in the interest of saving as many lives as possible will prevent what  

  has scientifically been established will result in the deaths of many more citizens  

  of Illinois due to the adverse economic effects of the restrictions and shutdown  

  including suicide, overdose, and child abuse.  Although the Governor's stated  

  purpose by his actions is to save as many lives as possible, he ignores the strong  

  likelihood that his actions will lead to the loss of many more lives to suicide,  

  overdose, and abuse than were lost to the coronavirus.   

  h)  He fails to establish or explain how his stated goal in continuing these   

  restrictions in the interest of saving as many lives as possible will prevent the true  

  likelihood that many lives of citizens of Illinois will be greatly affected by the  

  consequences of other medical issues and diseases that have been left unchecked  

  during the period of restrictions.           

  i)  He fails to establish or explain how his stated goal in continuing these   

  restrictions in the interest of saving as many lives as possible will prevent the  

  emotional trauma and severe distress caused to citizens of Illinois, especially  

  children, as a result of these ongoing restrictions with no clear end in sight.  

  j)  He fails to present any evidence to show that restricting people's movement  

  and ordering these restrictions prevent the spread or have any effect on the  

  coronavirus in light of studies out of New York, the hardest-hit city in the United  
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  States showing that the greatest area of spread of the virus during the quarantine  

  was among people sheltered at nursing homes.        

  k)  He fails to establish how there is a legitimate or compelling state interest to  

  justify the unequal application of enforcing the Covid-19 restrictions by allowing  

  large groups of people, in the thousands, to assemble for the protests and in  

  several cases damaging property and looting that took place within Illinois amid  

  the response to the death of George Floyd without any enforcement of the Covid- 

  19 restrictions but at the same time continuing to apply Covid-19 restrictions on  

  the number of people that could assemble at churches, restaurants, beaches, parks, 

  back yards, and all other places and "non-essential"  businesses.    

  l)  He fails to establish how the law can draw a distinction based on the content  

  and message of the protests in the wake of the death of George Floyd and the  

  content and message of churches and places of worship and churches.   

  m)  He fails to establish how the law can draw a distinction based on the   

  unlimited numbers of people allowed to gather for the protests in the wake of the  

  death of George Floyd, and the severely limited number of people allowed to  

  gather in churches, restaurants, beaches, parks, back yards, and all other places  

  and "non-essential" businesses.      

  m)  He fails to establish how there is a compelling and legitimate state interest  

  when the very rules he commanded are not followed by him where he   

  attends political protests and marches of hundreds of people many of whom did  

  not wear masks, marches side by side other protestors, less than 6 feet apart,  

  all while carrying a banner with others without gloves and then two days later  
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  decrees at a press conference that Plaintiffs and others similarly situated   

  individuals and businesses were not ready to move to Phase 4 of Restore Illinois b 

  because "the [medical] data doesn't tell us now is the time." See Group Exhibit  

  H.    

  n)  He fails to establish how there is a compelling and legitimate state interest  

  when the very rules he commanded are not followed by himself, where his family  

  travels out of State to Florida and his farm in Wisconsin in the middle of his  

  shelter in place orders.  

  o)  He fails to establish how it can ever be a legitimate or even possible role of  

  government to save as many lives as possible in any given situation rife with  

  unknowns or that there is ever a legitimate state interest in controlling things  

  that are beyond our Capacity to control as human beings.      

  p)  He otherwise fails to establish any legitimate or compelling state interest.  

 58.  Defendant Pritzker, by his actions and orders and continuing infringement on 

Plaintiffs' Constitutional rights with no definitive foreseeable end date, has no compelling 

justification for his discriminatory treatment of Plaintiffs and in his continuing violation of 

their Constitutional rights and he continues to fail to tailor his Executive Orders and five-

phase-plan to the least restrictive means necessary to meet any legitimate compelling state 

interest including but not limited to the following ways:      

  a)  No explanation or consideration regarding the fact that there is no evidence or  

  consensus in the medical community as to the ongoing threat of the coronavirus to 

  justify and indefinite legitimate state interest with no foreseeable end date. This is  
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  evidenced including but not limited to the following persisting questions:  

   i)  Is Covid-19 not as lethal as originally believed?     

   ii) Are Covid-19 deaths accurately coded?      

   iii) Why models leading to lockdowns were proven inaccurate?   

   iv) Did lockdowns actually slow the spread of the virus?    

   v) Do lockdowns have significant mental health risks?    

   vi) Do facemasks have any effect on the spread? (See Unreported Truths  

   About Covid-19 and Lockdowns, by Alex Berenson attached hereto as  

   Exhibit F)    

  b)  Defendant Pritzker has not explained concerning regional differences as  

  applied to churches in his executive orders.     

  c)  No explanation or consideration has been made as to church size in Defendant  

  Pritzker's executive orders.     

  d)  The Defendant has given no explanation or consideration concerning his  

  failure to provide any allowance concerning a particular individuals' risk factor  

  for coronavirus.    

  e)  The Defendant has offered no explanation or consideration concerning the  

  information regarding the spread of the coronavirus in a particular community. 

  f)  The Defendant has offered no explanation or consideration concerning the  

  levels of the numbers of people affected with coronavirus within a particular area. 

  g)  No explanation or consideration as to why a "one-size-fits-all" set of r  

  restrictions is feasible for the entire State of Illinois.      
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  h)  No explanation or consideration as to why certain businesses such as liquor  

  stores, abortion clinics, major grocery stores, Home Depot and Walmart are  

  considered essential when other family-owned businesses selling the same goods  

  and services are deemed non-essential and forced to close.       

  i)  No explanation or consideration as to why certain businesses such as liquor  

  stores, abortion clinics, major grocery stores, Home Depot and Walmart are  

  considered essential and can remain open with no direct limit on the number of  

  people who can be present at the same when churches, places of worship and  

  church ministries are considered non-essential, ordered closed and limited to  

  services of 10 or fewer individuals.  

  j)  No explanation or consideration as to justify the unequal application of   

  enforcing the Covid-19 restrictions by allowing large groups of people to   

  assemble for the protests and in several cases damaging property and looting that  

  took place within Illinois amid the response to the death of George Floyd without  

  any enforcement of the Covid-19 restrictions but at the same time continuing to  

  apply Covid-19 restrictions on the number of people that could assemble at  

  Churches, restaurants and other “non-essential” businesses.  At the same time the  

  Defendant restricts the Constitutional freedoms of the Plaintiffs and those   

  similarly situated, he allows different groups of people with separate and or  

  differing political, social agendas to gather in large groups, protest without  

  restrictions and in several cases damage property including places of worship. 

  k)  No explanation or consideration as to why a more narrowly tailored plan of  

  protecting the most vulnerable members of society which the facts indicate are the 
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  most susceptible to dying from the virus was not focused on instead of unlawfully 

  infringing on the constitutional rights of the over 99% of people who were not as  

  vulnerable.     

 59.  Plaintiffs seek temporary and permanent injunctive relief against Pritzker's orders 

infringing on their free exercise of religion, to worship in their churches, synagogues, and 

mosques; on their free exercise of church ministries and pastoral activities; on their freedom 

of speech; their freedom to assemble all of which are illegal and unconstitutional on their 

face, and as applied to Plaintiffs all of which are in no reasonable light narrowly tailored.  

 60. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan cannot meet strict scrutiny.  

 

  Defendant Pritzker's unjust taking of Private Property and Businesses 

 61.  The Fifth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States grants to the citizens 

of the United States the right to just compensation for taking of private property for public 

use. 

 62.  Article I Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois grants to citizens of the 

State of Illinois the protection of private property without just compensation and further that 

a jury shall determine the just compensation.  

 63.  Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated businesses and individuals from across the State 

of Illinois, are members of two distinct classes adversely affected by Defendant Pritzker's 

actions: 1) affected ordered companies to shut down by the coronavirus closure orders and 2) 

individual workers displaced from their gainful employment as a result of the same 

Executive Orders.  
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 64.  The Plaintiffs stand on the precipice of economic collapse as a direct result of the 

actions taken by Governor Pritzker. 

 65.  As noted above, Defendant Pritzker's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan, 

proclaimed by Defendant to protect the public safety, health and welfare of Illinois, mandated 

that all non-essential businesses immediately cease operations at their physical locations, that 

their employees do not work at these physical locations, and that this mandate to stay fully 

closed remains in force indefinitely or until a vaccine is obtained.  There is no guarantee that a 

vaccine will ever be achieved.   

 66.  The property of Plaintiff Businesses, and all similarly situated businesses in Illinois, 

which the Defendant's orders render unusable, included both the real property in which the 

businesses are physically located, and the tangible property housed at such locations.  This 

tangible property includes but is not limited to machinery, inventory, tools, business records, and 

other forms of tangible equipment used in the operation of each business.  

 67.  Despite issuing the Executive Orders for a public purpose, the Defendant did not 

provide compensation for those who suffered substantial – and perhaps total – diminution of 

value in their property interest as a result.  The Executive Orders by their operative provisions 

deprived Plaintiff Businesses, and all similarly situated businesses in Illinois of all economically 

beneficial use of their property and deprived Plaintiffs and all similarly situated individuals in 

Illinois of their livelihoods for an undefined period.   

 68.  Businesses were ordered to close under threat of fines, unspecified criminal 

penalties, and denial of access to disaster relief funding and services, which penalties were 

announced publicly and contemporaneously with the release of the Executive Orders.  
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 69.  Defendant Pritzker's actions were not designed to serve the Plaintiffs' private 

interests, nor did the Defendant identify any private interest served by his actions. 

 70.  The Executive Orders constitute a regulatory taking implemented for a recognized 

public purpose. Therefore, the failure to pay just compensation contravenes the Takings Clause 

of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and the First Article 

of the Illinois Constitution. 

COUNT I 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS AND ALL SIMILARLY  

SITUATED CITIZENS V. PRITZKER: 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE 

U.S. CONSTITUTION – FREE EXERCISE OF RELIGION 
(42 U.S.C. § 1983)  

 
 71.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-70 as though plead herein in Count I. 
 
 72.  Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens' religious activities are protected by the 

Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. Those 

protections constrain Defendant through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

 73.  The actions of Defendant, while acting under the color of state law, in threatening 

forcible closure, prosecution, and fines under his Executive Orders interfere with Plaintiff 

individuals, and all similarly situated citizens in Illinois free exercise by prohibiting and severely 

restricting religious activity in church buildings and otherwise prohibiting and interfering with 

Plaintiff individual's religious practices. 

 74. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and "non-mandatory guidelines" 

interfere with Plaintiff individuals and all similarly situated citizens' ability to carry out their 

religious doctrine, faith, and mission.  

 75. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and "non-mandatory guidelines" in 

their continued extension since March 9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end, do not serve any 
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compelling government interest, and are not in any way narrowly tailored to accomplish any 

government interest, compelling or otherwise, in the least restrictive manner.  

 76. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and "non-mandatory guidelines" 

violate the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment on their face and as applied to the 

Plaintiffs.  

 77.  Plaintiffs and all similarly situated citizens have no adequate remedy at law and will 

suffer severe and irreparable harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined 

from implementing and enforcing the Executive Orders and that this Court ultimately finds that 

Defendant is in violation of the Plaintiffs' First Amendment right to free speech under the U.S. 

Constitution to prevent any future violations.    

 78.  Under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated citizens are 

entitled to declaratory relief and temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief 

invalidating enforcement of the Executive Orders and five-phase-plan. 

 79.  Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens are entitled to nominal damages for this 

infringement of their rights.  Plaintiffs were forced to engage the services of private counsel to 

vindicate their rights under the law and are therefore entitled to an award of attorneys' fees under 

42 U.S.C. § 1988.         

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, CAROLINE 

SZWAJLIK and QUINTON S. MISTER demand judgment against Defendant, for nominal 

damages, compensatory damages, costs, and attorney fees, in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 
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compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all and any additional relief, 

this Court deems fair and appropriate.  

COUNT II 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS AND ALL SIMILARLY  

SITUATED CITIZENS V. PRITZKER: 
VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE 1, SECTION 3 OF THE ILLINOIS 

CONSTITUTION – FREE EXERCISE OF RELIGION 
 

 80.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-79 as though plead herein in Count II.  
 
 81.  Plaintiffs and all similarly situated citizens' religious activities are protected by the  
 
Free Exercise Clause of Article 1 of the Illinois Constitution.  
 
 82.  The actions of Defendant in threatening forcible closure, prosecution, and fines under 

his Executive Orders interfere with Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens in Illinois free 

exercise by prohibiting and severely restricting religious activity in church buildings and 

otherwise prohibiting and interfering with Plaintiffs' religious practices.  At the same time, the 

Defendant allows different groups of people with separate and or differing political and social 

agendas to gather in large groups, protest without restrictions, and in several cases, damage 

property, including places of worship and loot.   

 83. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and "non-mandatory guidelines" 

interfere with Plaintiffs' and all similarly situated citizens' ability to carry out their religious 

doctrine, faith, and mission.  

 84. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and "non-mandatory guidelines" in 

their continued extension since March 9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end, do not serve any 

compelling government interest, and are not in any way narrowly tailored to accomplish any 

government interest, compelling or otherwise, in the least restrictive manner.  
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 85. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and "non-mandatory guidelines" 

violate the Free Exercise Clause of the Illinois Constitution both on their face and as applied to 

the Plaintiffs.  

 86.  Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens' have no adequate remedy at law and will 

suffer severe and irreparable harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined 

from implementing and enforcing the Executive Orders and five-phase-plan.   

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, CAROLINE 

SZWAJLIK, and QUINTON S. MISTER demand judgment against Defendant, for nominal 

damages, compensatory damages, costs, and attorney fees, in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 

compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all and any additional relief, 

this Court deems fair and appropriate.  

COUNT III 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS AND ALL SIMILARLY  

SITUATED CITIZENS V. PRITZKER: 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE 

U.S. CONSTITUTION – FREE SPEECH 
(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 
 87.  The Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-86 as though plead herein in Count III. 
 
 88.  The Plaintiffs' rights to speak freely are protected by the Free Speech Clause of the 

First Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. Those protections constrain the 

Defendants through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  

 89.  The actions of Defendant, while acting under the color of state law, in threatening 

forcible closure, prosecution, and fines under the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan interfere 

with Plaintiffs' free speech including but not limited to the following ways:  
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  a) By targeting and burdening their religious expression, including   

   prohibiting any communal prayer and singing.    

  b) By targeting and oppressing their free speech, including preventing the  

   ability to provide condolences in person to others at wakes and funerals.  

c) By prohibiting their ability to leave their homes and speak with other 

individuals outside their homes.       

d) By forcing and mandating the wearing of masks outside of the home, 

which conveys a message of fear to others against their will and intent.   

e)  By allowing groups of people with separate or differing political and 

social agendas and view-points including the radical atheist group, Antifa, 

to gather in large groups, protest without restrictions and government 

protection, and in several cases damage property including places of 

worship, and loot.     

f) By otherwise prohibiting their right to speak freely.  

 90.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 

9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end do not serve any compelling government interest and are 

not narrowly tailored to accomplish any government interest, compelling or otherwise, in the 

least restrictive manner. They are not a reasonable time, place, or manner restrictions because 

they burden substantially more speech than necessary to achieve the government's interests and 

do not leave open ample alternative channels of communication.  
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 91.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 

9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end, violate the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment on 

their face and as applied to Plaintiffs.  

 92.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and will suffer severe and irreparable harm 

to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing the 

Executive Orders and that this Court ultimately finds that Defendant is in violation of the 

Plaintiffs' First Amendment right to free speech under the U.S. Constitution to prevent any future 

violations.    

 93.  Under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief and 

temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief invalidating and restraining enforcement 

of the Executive Orders and five-phase-plan.   

 94.  Plaintiffs and all similarly situated citizens are entitled to nominal damages for this 

infringement of their rights.  Plaintiffs were forced to engage the services of private counsel to 

vindicate their rights under the law. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to an award of attorneys' fees 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.        

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, CAROLINE 

SZWAJLIK, and QUINTON S. MISTER demand judgment against Defendant, for nominal 

damages, compensatory damages, costs, and attorney fees, in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 

compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all and any additional relief, 

this Court deems fair and appropriate.  

COUNT IV 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS AND ALL SIMILARLY  
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SITUATED CITIZENS V. PRITZKER: 
VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE 1 SECTION 5 OF 

THE ILLINOIS CONSTITUTION – FREE SPEECH 
 

 95.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-94 as though plead herein in Count IV. 
 
 96.  The Plaintiffs' rights to speak freely are protected by the Free Speech Clause of  
 
Article I of the Illinois Constitution.  
 
 97.  The actions of Defendant in threatening forcible closure, prosecution, and fines under 

the Executive Orders and five-phase-plan interfere with the Plaintiffs' free speech including but 

not limited to the following ways:    

a)  By targeting and burdening their religious expression, including prohibiting 

any communal prayer and singing.       

b)  By targeting and oppressing their free speech, including prohibiting the ability 

to provide condolences in person to others at wakes and funerals.   

c)  By prohibiting their ability to leave their homes and speak with other 

individuals outside their homes.        

d)  By forcing and mandating the wearing of masks outside of the home and in 

public spaces and stores, which conveys a message of fear and submission to 

others around them against their will and intent to convey such a message.   

e)  By allowing groups of people with separate or differing political and social 

agendas and view-points including the radical atheist group, Antifa, to gather in 

large groups, protest without restrictions and government protection, and in 

several cases damage property including places of worship, and loot.  

f)  By otherwise prohibiting their right to speak freely.  
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 98. The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 9, 

2020, and with no foreseeable end do not serve any compelling government interest and are not 

narrowly tailored to accomplish any government interest, compelling or otherwise, in the least 

restrictive manner. They are not a reasonable time, place, or manner restrictions because they 

burden substantially more speech than necessary to achieve the government's interests and do not 

leave open ample alternative channels of communication.  

99. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan violate the Free Speech Clause of 

the Illinois Constitution both on their face and as applied to the Plaintiffs.  
 
       100. Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens' have no adequate remedy at law and will 

suffer severe and irreparable harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined 

from implementing and enforcing the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, CAROLINE 

SZWAJLIK, and QUINTON S. MISTER demand judgment against Defendant, for nominal 

damages, compensatory damages, costs, and attorney fees, in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 

compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all and any additional relief, 

this Court deems fair and appropriate.  

COUNT V 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS  AND ALL SIMILARLY SITUATED CITIZENS V. 

PRITZKER: VIOLATIONS OF THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION – FREEDOM TO ASSEMBLE 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 
 

 101.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-100 as though plead herein in Count V. 
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 102.  The Plaintiffs' rights to peaceably assemble are protected by the Freedom to 

Assemble Clause of the First Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. Those 

protections constrain the Defendants through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment.  

 103.  The actions of Defendant, while acting under the color of state law, in enforcing 

restrictions on movement, stay at home orders, forcible closure, prosecution, and fine under the 

Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan interfere with Plaintiffs' freedom to assemble with no 

definitive end date including but not limited to the following ways: 

  a)  By prohibiting or greatly limiting communal activity and worship in church  

  buildings with no definitive end date.        

b)  By prohibiting or greatly limiting and burdening their freedom to assemble, 

including prohibiting or greatly restricting the ability to physically engage in the 

burial of the dead at wakes and funerals with no definitive end date.   

c)  By prohibiting or greatly limiting their ability to leave their homes and freely 

assemble with other individuals outside their homes with no definitive end date.  

d) By prohibiting or greatly restricting the number of people that could assemble 

at Churches, restaurants, and other "non-essential" businesses, but not restricting 

or limiting large groups of people protesting and, in several cases, damaging 

property and looting throughout Illinois in response to the death of George Floyd.   

e) By allowing groups of people with separate or differing political and social 

agendas and view-points including the radical atheist group, Antifa, to gather in 

large groups, protest without restrictions and government protection, and in 

several cases damage property including places of worship, and loot.  
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f)  If they are allowed to leave their homes for limited purposes, by forcing and 

mandating the wearing of masks outside of the home or in public spaces or stores 

against their will with no definitive end date.      

g)  By otherwise prohibiting their right to assemble freely.  

 104.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 

9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end do not serve any compelling government interest and are 

not narrowly tailored to accomplish any government interest, compelling or otherwise, in the 

least restrictive manner. Defendant's mandated restrictions are not reasonable in scope, time, 

place, or manner because they burden substantially more freedom than necessary to achieve the 

government's alleged compelling interests and present absolutely no definitive end date for the 

same.    

 105.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 

9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end, violate the Freedom to Assemble Clause of the First 

Amendment on their face and as applied to Plaintiffs.  

 106.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and will suffer severe and irreparable 

harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing 

the Executive Orders and further that this Court ultimately finds that Defendant is in violation of 

the Plaintiffs' First Amendment right to freely assemble under the U.S. Constitution to prevent 

any future violations.    

 107.  Under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief and 

temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief invalidating and restraining enforcement 

of the Executive Orders and five-phase-plan.   
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 108.  Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens are entitled to nominal damages for this 

infringement of their rights.  Plaintiffs were forced to engage the services of private counsel to 

vindicate their rights under the law. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to an award of attorneys' fees 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.       

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, CAROLINE 

SZWAJLIK, and QUINTON S. MISTER demand judgment against Defendant, for nominal 

damages, compensatory damages, costs, and attorney fees, in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 

compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all and any additional relief, 

this Court deems fair and appropriate.  

 

COUNT VI 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS AND ALL SIMILARLY SITUATED CITIZENS V. 

PRITZKER: VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE 1, SECTION 5 OF 
THE ILLINOIS CONSTITUTION – FREEDOM TO ASSEMBLE 

 
 109.  The Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-108 as though plead herein in Count VI. 
 
 111.  The Plaintiffs' rights to freely assemble are protected by the Freedom to Assemble 

Clause of Article I of the Illinois Constitution.  

 111.  The actions of Defendant in threatening restrictions on movement, stay at home 

orders, forcible closure, prosecution, and fine under the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan 

interfere with Plaintiffs' freedom to assemble including but not limited to the following ways:  

a)  By prohibiting or greatly limiting communal activity and worship in church 

buildings.  
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b)  By prohibiting or greatly limiting and burdening their freedom to assemble, 

including prohibiting the ability to physically engage in the burial of the dead at 

wakes and funerals.   

c). By prohibiting or greatly limiting their ability to leave their homes and freely 

assemble with other individuals outside their homes.  

d) By prohibiting or greatly restricting the number of people that could assemble 

at Churches, restaurants, and other "non-essential" businesses, but not restricting 

or limiting large groups of people protesting and, in several cases, damaging 

property and looting throughout Illinois in response to the death of George Floyd.   

e)  By allowing groups of people with separate or differing political and social 

agendas and view-points, including the radical atheist group, Antifa, to gather in 

large groups, protest without restrictions, and government protection, and in 

several cases damage property including places of worship, and loot.  

f) If they are allowed to leave their homes for limited purposes, by forcing and 

mandating the wearing of masks outside of the home or in public spaces or stores 

against their will.         

g)  By otherwise prohibiting their right to assemble freely.  

 112.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 

9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end do not serve any compelling government interest and are 

not narrowly tailored to accomplish any government interest, compelling or otherwise, in the 

least restrictive manner. They are not reasonable time, place, or manner restrictions because they 

burden substantially more speech than necessary to achieve the government's interests and do not 

leave open ample alternative channels of communication.  
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 113.  The Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan in their continued extension since March 9, 

2020, and with no foreseeable end, violate the Freedom to Assemble Clause of the Illinois 

Constitution on both their face and as applied to Plaintiffs.  

 114. Plaintiffs, and all similarly situated citizens' have no adequate remedy at law and 

will suffer severe and irreparable harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined 

from implementing and enforcing the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, CAROLINE 

SZWAJLIK, and QUINTON S. MISTER demand judgment against Defendant, for nominal 

damages, compensatory damages, costs, and attorney fees, in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 

compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all and any additional relief, 

this Court deems fair and appropriate.  

COUNT VII 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS and PLAINTIFF BUSINESSES V. PRITZKER: 
VIOLATIONS OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH 

AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION  
 

 115.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-114 as though plead herein in Count VII. 
 
 116.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since March 

9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end violate Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights secured by 

the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Under the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment, no State shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without 

due process of law." The fundamental liberties protected by this Clause include most of the 

rights enumerated in the Bill of Rights. See Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 147–149 (1968). 

Also, these liberties extend to confident personal choices central to individual dignity and 
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autonomy, including intimate options that define personal identity and beliefs. See, e.g., 

Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438, 453 (1972); Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 484–486 

(1965).  

 117. Plaintiffs' rights to freedom of religion, assembly, speech, and travel are 

fundamental rights protected by the U.S. Constitution. See, e.g., Aptheker v. Secretary of State, 

378 U.S. 500, 520 (1964); Kent v. Dulles, 357 U.S. 116, 127 (1958).  

 118.  When a government practice restricts fundamental rights such as the right to 

practice religion freely, assemble peacefully, speak, and travel, it is subject to "strict scrutiny." It   

can be justified only if it furthers a compelling government purpose and, even then, only if no 

less restrictive alternative is available. See, e.g., Memorial Hospital v. Maricopa  County, 415 

U.S. 250, 257-258 (1974); Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330, 339-341 (1972); Shapiro v. 

Thompson, 394 U.S. 618, 89 (1969), Maher v. Roe, 432 U.S. 464, 488 (1977). The Due Process 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment includes the right to be free from any purported normative, 

legal guidelines bestowing unfettered discretion on government officials about interpretation or 

enforcement. 

 119.  The Defendant is picking Constitutional winners and losers by allowing groups of 

people with separate or differing political and social agendas and view-points including the 

radical atheist group, Antifa, to gather in large groups, protest without restrictions and 

government protection, and in several cases damage property including places of worship, and 

loot.  

 120.  Strict scrutiny applies to the Plaintiffs' claims because the Executive Orders and 5   

phase-plan in their continued extension since March 9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end, 

mandate that Plaintiffs stay at home, impinging on their fundamental rights to freedom of 
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religion, assembly, speech, and travel. These orders do not permit Plaintiffs to exercise these 

rights unless Defendants deem them "essential" or as participating in "essential" activities. 

 121. Defendant's mandates are not "narrowly tailored" to further any compelling 

governmental interest. Defendant has granted numerous exemptions for purportedly   

"essential" businesses and activities. Since these gatherings can be permitted, there can be  

no doubt that Defendants may, and therefore must permit Plaintiffs to engage in equivalent 

constitutionally protected activities on the same or similar terms.  

 122.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and will suffer serious and irreparable 

harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing 

the Executive Orders and that this Court ultimately finds that Defendant is in violation of the 

Plaintiffs' First Amendment right to freely assemble under the U.S. Constitution to prevent any 

future violations.    

 123.  Under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief and 

temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief invalidating and restraining enforcement 

of the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan.   

 124.  Plaintiffs and all similarly situated citizens and businesses in Illinois are entitled to 

nominal damages for this infringement of their rights.  Plaintiffs were forced to engage the 

services of private counsel to vindicate their rights under the law. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled 

to an award of attorneys' fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, DAWN NOWLIN; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. 

OLIVARES, APRIL SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER 

PTAK, JAMES SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, in her individual Capacity, and as the owner 

of IN STYLE HAIR STUDIO, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, in her individual Capacity, and as the 
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owner of BONOFIDE CLEANING, LLC.,  CAROLINE SZWAJLIK, in her individual Capacity, 

and as the owner of KAREN'S EMERGENCY SERVICES, and QUINTON S. MISTER, in his 

individual capacity request that the Court declares the actions of Defendant a taking of private 

property for public benefit under the U.S. and Illinois Constitutions, order the determination of 

Just Compensation to the Plaintiffs in excess of $75,000.00, order the just compensation to the 

Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all other appropriate relief. 

COUNT VIII 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS and PLAINTIFF BUSINESSES V. PRITZKER: 

VIOLATIONS OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE 
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION 

 
 125.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-124 as though plead herein in Count VIII. 
 
 126.  The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that the 

government treats similarly situated persons alike. 

 127. Defendant's Executive Orders and five-phase-plan in their continued extension since 

March 9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end violate Plaintiffs' equal protection rights secured by 

the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.  

 128.  The Defendant is picking Constitutional winners and losers by allowing groups of 

people with separate or differing political and social agendas and view-points including the 

radical atheist group, Antifa, to gather in large groups, protest without restrictions and 

government protection, and in several cases damage property including places of worship, and 

loot.  

 129.  Strict scrutiny applies to the Plaintiffs' claims because the Executive Orders and 5 

phase-plan in their continued extension since March 9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end, 

mandate that Plaintiffs stay at home, impinging on their fundamental rights to freedom of 

religion, assembly, speech, and travel. These orders do not permit Plaintiffs to exercise these 
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rights unless Defendants deem them "essential" or as participating in "essential" activities. 

 130. Defendant's mandates are not "narrowly tailored" to further any compelling 

governmental interest. Defendant has granted numerous exemptions for purportedly "essential" 

businesses and activities. Since these gatherings can be permitted, there can be no doubt that 

Defendants may, and therefore must permit Plaintiffs to engage in equivalent constitutionally 

protected activities on the same or similar terms.  

 131.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and will suffer serious and irreparable 

harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing 

the Executive Orders and that this Court ultimately finds that Defendant is in violation of the 

Plaintiffs' First Amendment right to freely assemble under the U.S. Constitution to prevent any 

future violations.    

 132.  Under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief and 

temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief invalidating and restraining enforcement 

of the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan.   

 133.  Plaintiffs and all similarly situated citizens and businesses in Illinois are entitled to 

nominal damages for this infringement of their rights.  Plaintiffs were forced to engage the 

services of private counsel to vindicate their rights under the law. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled 

to an award of attorneys' fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs DAWN NOWLIN, in her individual Capacity; and as the 

owner of HOUDINIS SPIRITS; KARLA BOLDT, RACHEL M. OLIVARES, APRIL 

SCHWEITZER, MELISSA L. SHARMA, JESSE KADERA, PETER PTAK, JAMES 

SHIPLEY, ELAINE CONFORTI, in her individual Capacity, and as the owner of IN STYLE 

HAIR STUDIO, CHERYL A. THOMPSON, in her individual Capacity, and as the owner of 
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BONOFIDE CLEANING, LLC., and CAROLINE SZWAJLIK, in her individual Capacity, and 

as the owner of KAREN'S EMERGENCY SERVICES, QUINTON S. MISTER in his individual 

capacity request that the Court declares the actions of Defendant a taking of private property for 

public benefit under the U.S. and Illinois Constitutions, order the determination of Just 

Compensation to the Plaintiffs in excess of $75,000.00, order the just compensation to the 

Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all other appropriate relief. 

COUNT IX 
PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALS  V. PRITZKER: 

VIOLATION OF THE ILLINOIS RELIGIOUS FREEDOM RESTORATION ACT 
(775 ILCS 35) 

 
 134.   Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-133 as though plead herein in Count IX. 
 
 135. Illinois' Religious Freedom Restoration Act ("RFRA") commands that Illinois 

government "may not substantially burden a person's exercise of religion, even if the burden 

results from a rule of general applicability unless it demonstrates that application of the burden to 

the person (i) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest and (ii) is the least 

restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest." 775 ILCS 35/15.   

 136.  Defendant Pritzker, who is an agent of the Illinois government and, therefore, 

subject to the RFRA, has violated RFRA by substantially burdening the Plaintiffs' exercise of 

their religion without any valid justification. Defendant's actions are disproportional where he is 

allowing groups of people with separate or differing political and social agendas and view-points 

including the radical atheist group, Antifa, to gather in large groups, protest without restrictions 

and government protection, and in several cases damage property including places of worship, 

and loot. 

 137.  The Executive Orders and five-phase-plan and their continued extension since 

March 9, 2020, and with no foreseeable end do not further a compelling governmental interest 
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and are not the least restrictive means of furthering any governmental interest, compelling or 

otherwise.  

 138.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and will suffer serious and irreparable 

harm to their constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing 

the orders.  

 139.  Under 775 ILCS 35/20, the Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief and 

temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief invalidating and restraining enforcement 

of the Executive Orders and 5 phase-plan.  

 140.  Plaintiffs were forced to engage the services of private counsel to vindicate their 

rights under the law. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to an award of attorneys' fees under 775 

ILCS 35/20.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that the Court declare the actions of Defendant a taking 

of private property for public benefit under the U.S. and Illinois Constitutions, order the 

determination of Just Compensation to the Plaintiffs in excess of $75,000.00, order the just 

compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all other appropriate relief. 

COUNT X 
PLAINTIFF BUSINESSES V. PRITZKER: 

Illegal and unjust taking of private property under the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. 
Constitution and Article 15, Section 1 of the Illinois Constitution. 

 
 141.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-140 as though plead herein in Count X. 
 
 142.  Plaintiff Businesses, and all similarly situated "non-essential" businesses in Illinois 

were unable to open for business, or have been severely limited in their Capacity to open for 

business from March 21, 2020, through the present date, under the Executive Orders and five 

phase-plan of Defendant. 

 143. Defendant's actions were a taking of private property for the public benefit. 
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 144.  Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer, including but not limited to the 

following damages:          

A. That Plaintiffs' businesses lost income in excess of $75,000.00 for the 

period she was prohibited from operating her business and continues to 

lose income.  

B. That the closure of Plaintiffs' businesses constitute a taking by the State of 

Illinois under the U.S. Constitution and the Illinois Constitution, for which 

they were and are entitled to just compensation.    

C. Neither the Plaintiffs nor their businesses were awarded any just 

compensation from the State of Illinois for the loss of their business 

revenue.    

D. No jury was empowered to determine the just compensation of the 

Plaintiffs for the closure of their businesses as required by the Illinois 

Constitution.     

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs HOUDINIS SPIRITS, IN STYLE HAIR STUDIO, 

BONOFIDE CLEANING LLC, and KAREN'S EMERGENCY SERVICES and all similarly 

situated "non-essential" businesses in Illinois request that the Court declare the actions of 

Defendant a taking of private property for public benefit under the U.S. and Illinois 

Constitutions, order the determination of Just Compensation to the Plaintiffs in excess of 

$75,000.00, order the just compensation to the Plaintiffs by a jury under Illinois law, and for all 

other appropriate relief. 

COUNT XI 
ALL PLAINTIFFS V PRITZKER: 
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TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER,  
PRELIMINARY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION 

 
 145.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-144 as though plead herein in Count XI. 
 
 146.  Plaintiffs have a right to insist Pritzker's executive orders are lawful and enforceable 

under the U.S. Constitution, Illinois Constitution and Illinois Statutes.  

 147.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law to prohibit Pritzker from enforcing his 

unlawful Executive Order and five phase-plan or any subsequent order issued with substantively 

the same restrictions, against them absent an injunction from this Court ordering the same.  

 148.  Plaintiffs are irreparably harmed every day they continue to be restricted to their 

home, restricted from operating their businesses restricted from travel, operating their businesses, 

wearing masks, freely exercising their right to worship, to assemble and to speak freely, and 

further restrict the activities they might engage within the entire State of Illinois except to do 

those things Pritzker has unilaterally authorized them they could do with severe limitations. 

 149.  There is a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits for any of the following 

reasons:            

a). Pritzker had no authority under the U.S. Constitution, the Illinois Constitution 

or any statute of the State of Illinois to enter the Executive Orders, the five phase-

plan,  or any subsequent order issued with substantively the same restrictions;  

b)  Pritzker exceeded his authority under the IEMAA in entering the March 20 

Executive Order;          

c)  Pritzker has violated Plaintiffs' procedural due process rights when he entered 

the Executive Orders, the five phase-plan,  or any subsequent order issued with 

substantively the same restrictions;      
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d)  Pritzker has violated Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights when he entered 

the Executive Orders, the five phase-plan,  or any subsequent order issued with 

substantively the same restrictions.  

 WHEREFORE, ALL PLAINTIFFS and all similarly situated individuals and businesses 

in Illinois pray that this Court enters judgment in their favor and finds and orders:   

a)  An injunction permanently enjoining Pritzker, or anyone under his 

authority, from enforcing the Executive Orders, the five phase-plan,  or 

any subsequent order issued with substantively the same restrictions, 

against Plaintiffs and all similarly situated individuals and businesses in 

Illinois, from this date forward.  

b)  An injunction permanently enjoining Pritzker from entering any further 

Executive Orders against Plaintiffs and all similarly situated individuals 

and businesses in Illinois, from restricting their freedom of movement to 

leave their homes, travel, operate their businesses, wear masks, freely 

exercise their right to worship, to assemble and to speak freely, and further 

restrict the activities they might engage within the entire State of Illinois.   

c) For any other relief as the Court deems just and proper.  
 

COUNT XII 
ALL PLAINTIFFS V PRITZKER: 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 
(28 SC § 2201)  

 
 150.  Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1-149 as though plead herein in Count XII. 
 
 151.  As set forth herein, Defendant has and will continue to enforce against Plaintiffs the 

Executive Orders and five phase-plan with nor foreseeable end date. 
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 152.  An actual controversy exists between the Plaintiffs and Defendant as to whether 

Defendant Pritzker possesses the power and authority to issue the Executive Orders and the five 

phase-plan. 

 153.  An actual controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendant as to whether 

Defendant Pritzker possesses the power and authority to impose under the IEMA a quarantine or 

isolation on Illinois residents, a mandate that they wear masks, or to order shutdowns of Illinois 

churches, Illinois businesses without following the strictures of the IDPH Act and allowing 

residents, businesses and churches the due process provided them under the IDPH Act and 

related administrative rules.        

 WHEREFORE, ALL PLAINTIFFS and all similarly situated individuals and businesses 

in Illinois, pray that this Court enters judgment in their favor and finds and orders:   

a)  A declaration that Defendant Pritzker was and is without the power or 

authority to issue the Executive Orders and five phase-plan, by which Defendant 

Pritzker purported to extend the prohibitions set forth in EO 2020-10 through May 

30, 2020, and beyond, with no foreseeable end date.      

b)  A declaration that Defendant Pritzker is without the power or authority to 

exercise his emergency powers beyond the 30 days permitted by the express terms 

of the Illinois Emergency Management Agency Act.      

c) A declaration that Defendant Pritzker is without the power or authority to 

quarantine or isolate Illinois residents or order shutdowns of Illinois churches, or 

order shutdowns of Illinois businesses without following the strictures of the 

IDPH Act and allowing residents and churches the due process provided them 

under the IDPH Act and related administrative rules.     
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d) A declaration that Defendant Pritzker is without the power or authority to 

restrict Plaintiffs' freedom of movement to leave their homes, travel, operate their 

businesses, wear masks, freely exercise their right to worship, to assemble and to 

speak freely, and further restrict the activities they might engage within the entire 

State of Illinois.          

e)  A declaration the Defendant Pritzker was without power or authority at all 

times to restrict the Plaintiffs' rights of free exercise of religion, free speech, and 

the free right to assemble guaranteed by the U.S. and Illinois Constitutions. 

f) A declaration that Defendant Pritzker was without power or authority to 

unequally apply any Covid-19 restrictions by prohibiting or greatly restricting the 

number of people that could assemble at Churches, restaurants and other "non-

essential" businesses, but not restricting or limited the large groups of people 

protesting and looting throughout Illinois in response to the death of George 

Floyd.       

g). For any other declaration or relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

PLAINTIFFS DEMAND TRIAL BY JURY 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
DAWN NOWLIN, in her individual       
Capacity; and as Owner of HOUDINIS    
SPIRITS;       

  
KARLA BOLDT,     
        
RACHEL M. OLIVARES,  
 
APRIL SCHWEITZER, 
        
MELISSA L. SHARMA, 
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JESSE KADERA,  
        
PETER PTAK,   
        
JAMES SHIPLEY,  
        
ELAINE CONFORTI, in her individual    
Capacity, and as Owner of IN STYLE HAIR   
STUDIO       
        
CHERYL A. THOMPSON, in her individual  
Capacity, and as Owner of BONOFIDE    
CLEANING, LLC. 
 
CAROLINE SZWAJLIK, in her individual Capacity, and as Owner of KAREN'S 
EMERGENCY SERVICES   
 
QUINTON S. MISTER, 
 
 
By:   /s/ John C. Kreamer 

/s/ Joseph E. Urani   
Attorneys for Plaintiffs        
 
John C. Kreamer, #6270111 
Joseph E. Urani #6278626    
Kreamer Law Group, LLC 
1100 E. Warrenville Rd., Suite 135 
Naperville, IL 60563 
Phone: (630) 995-3668 
Fax: (630) 597-9532        
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